Investigating innovations in outpatient services: a mixed-methods rapid evaluation

Chris Sherlaw-Johnson,^{1*} Theo Georghiou,¹ Sarah Reed,¹ Rachel Hutchings,¹ John Appleby,¹ Stuti Bagri,¹ Nadia Crellin,¹ Stephanie Kumpunen,^{1,2} Cyril Lobont,¹ Jenny Negus,³ Pei Li Ng,² Camille Oung,¹ Jonathan Spencer¹ and Angus Ramsay²

Published September 2024 DOI: 10.3310/VGQD4611

Plain language summary

Investigating innovations in outpatient services: a mixed-methods rapid evaluation

Health and Social Care Delivery Research 2024; Vol. 12: No. 38 DOI: 10.3310/VGQD4611

NIHR Journals Library www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk

¹Research and Policy, The Nuffield Trust, London, UK

²Department of Behavioural Science and Health, University College London, London, UK

³Patient and Public Representative

^{*}Corresponding author christopher.sherlaw-johnson@nuffieldtrust.org.uk

Plain language summary

When someone visits hospital for an operation or an ongoing condition, they are given follow-up appointments at clinics, often after 6 months. The National Health Service thinks that many of these appointments are not necessary because they are not useful to patients. Also, outside fixed appointments, patients are not always being seen when they are most in need.

Hospitals have been testing new ways to improve services. We looked at hospital data and discussed interesting findings with hospitals themselves to see if we could find approaches that worked.

We then looked at one new approach called Patient-Initiated Follow-Up. Patients using Patient-Initiated Follow-Up can book appointments when they are needed, rather than at a pre-planned time.

We explored how Patient-Initiated Follow-Up was being used in hospitals, what effect it was having and what patients and National Health Service staff thought about it. We studied hospital data and interviewed patients and National Health Service staff.

We found that Patient-Initiated Follow-Up works differently depending on the hospital and the patient's condition. Patient-Initiated Follow-Up is most frequently used for patients needing short-term follow-up, such as after an operation. It is also starting to be used for patients with long-term chronic conditions.

National Health Service staff think that Patient-Initiated Follow-Up can benefit patients, although some may find it easier to use than others. Patients appear to like Patient-Initiated Follow-Up, but some still prefer to let the hospital schedule appointments.

From data it appears that for some conditions, where more patients use Patient-Initiated Follow-Up, fewer follow-up visits are required. For a few conditions, there is evidence of fewer emergency department visits, but the overall impact is small.

We interviewed staff from a small number of hospitals and four patients, so what we found may not apply across the National Health Service. We also developed a guide to help hospitals evaluate the success of their own Patient-Initiated Follow-Up services.

Health and Social Care Delivery Research

ISSN 2755-0079 (Online)

A list of Journals Library editors can be found on the NIHR Journals Library website

Health and Social Care Delivery Research (HSDR) was launched in 2013 and is indexed by Europe PMC, DOAJ, INAHTA, Ulrichsweb™ (ProQuest LLC, Ann Arbor, MI, USA), NCBI Bookshelf, Scopus and MEDLINE.

This journal is a member of and subscribes to the principles of the Committee on Publication Ethics (COPE) (www.publicationethics.org/).

Editorial contact: journals.library@nihr.ac.uk

This journal was previously published as *Health Services and Delivery Research* (Volumes 1–9); ISSN 2050-4349 (print), ISSN 2050-4357 (online)

The full HSDR archive is freely available to view online at www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk/hsdr.

Criteria for inclusion in the Health and Social Care Delivery Research journal

Manuscripts are published in *Health and Social Care Delivery Research* (HSDR) if (1) they have resulted from work for the HSDR programme, and (2) they are of a sufficiently high scientific quality as assessed by the reviewers and editors.

HSDR programme

The HSDR programme funds research to produce evidence to impact on the quality, accessibility and organisation of health and social care services. This includes evaluations of how the NHS and social care might improve delivery of services.

For more information about the HSDR programme please visit the website at https://www.nihr.ac.uk/explore-nihr/funding-programmes/health-and-social-care-delivery-research.htm

This article

The research reported here is the product of an HSDR Evidence Synthesis Centre, contracted to provide rapid evidence syntheses on issues of relevance to the health service, and to inform future HSDR calls for new research around identified gaps in evidence. Other reviews by the Evidence Synthesis Centres are also available in the HSDR journal.

The research reported in this issue of the journal was funded by the HSDR programme or one of its preceding programmes as award number 16/138/17. The contractual start date was in November 2020. The draft manuscript began editorial review in October 2023 and was accepted for publication in April 2024. The authors have been wholly responsible for all data collection, analysis and interpretation, and for writing up their work. The HSDR editors and production house have tried to ensure the accuracy of the authors' manuscript and would like to thank the reviewers for their constructive comments on the draft document. However, they do not accept liability for damages or losses arising from material published in this article.

This article presents independent research funded by the National Institute for Health and Care Research (NIHR). The views and opinions expressed by authors in this publication are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect those of the NHS, the NIHR, the HSDR programme or the Department of Health and Social Care. If there are verbatim quotations included in this publication the views and opinions expressed by the interviewees are those of the interviewees and do not necessarily reflect those of the authors, those of the NHS, the NIHR, the HSDR programme or the Department of Health and Social Care.

This article was published based on current knowledge at the time and date of publication. NIHR is committed to being inclusive and will continually monitor best practice and guidance in relation to terminology and language to ensure that we remain relevant to our stakeholders.

Copyright © 2024 Sherlaw-Johnson et al. This work was produced by Sherlaw-Johnson et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care. This is an Open Access publication distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution CC BY 4.0 licence, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, reproduction and adaptation in any medium and for any purpose provided that it is properly attributed. See: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/. For attribution the title, original author(s), the publication source – NIHR Journals Library, and the DOI of the publication must be cited.

Published by the NIHR Journals Library (www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk), produced by Newgen Digitalworks Pvt Ltd, Chennai, India (www.newgen.co).

RSET: The Rapid Service Evaluation Team

The Rapid Service Evaluation Team ('RSET'), comprising health service researchers, health economists and other colleagues from University College London and the Nuffield Trust, have come together to rapidly evaluate new ways of providing and organising care. We have been funded by the National Institute for Health and Care Research (NIHR) Health Service and Delivery Research (HS&DR) programme for five years, starting on April 1st 2018.

RSET are completing rapid evaluations with respect to:

- 1. The impact of services on how well patients do (e.g. their quality of life, how likely patients are to recover);
- 2. Whether services give people the right care at the right time;
- 3. Whether these services are good value for money;
- 4. How changes are put into practice, and what patients, carers, and staff think about how the changes happened and whether they think the changes **made a difference**;
- 5. What lessons there are for the rest of the NHS and care.